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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

(Eastern Division)  

Case No. 1-08-CV-1101-DAP  

RIT RESCUE & ESCAPE SYSTEMS, INC.  
(An Ohio Corporation)    

Plaintiff, 
vs.  

FIRE INNOVATIONS, LLC.  
(A California Limited Liability Co.)  

&  

FIRE FORCE, INC.  
(A Pennsylvania Corporation) 
dba Eagle Emergency Systems    

Defendants. 
_____________________________/  

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT  

The Plaintiff, RIT Rescue & Escape Systems, Inc. (“RIT”), as and for its Complaint 

against the Defendants, Fire Innovations, LLC. (“FIRE INNOVATIONS”) and Fire Force, Inc. 

“FIRE FORCE”, by and  through the undersigned counsel, hereby alleges as follows:  

THE PARTIES 

1. The Plaintiff, RIT Rescue & Escape Systems, Inc., is an Ohio Corporation, having 

its principle place of business at 1900 Enterprise Parkway, Suite H, Twinsburg, Cuyahoga 

County, Ohio 44087 

2. The Defendant, Fire Innovations, LLC., is California chartered limited liability 

company, having its principle place of business at 2454 E. Washington Street, Petaluma, 

California 94954. 
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3. The Defendant, Fire Force, Inc., is a Pennsylvania Corporation, doing business in 

the State of Ohio, under the fictitous name of Eagle Emergency System; and, having its principle 

place of business in the State of Ohio at 225 McClurg Road, Suite 1, Boardman, Mahoning 

County, Ohio 44512.  

JURISDICTION 

4. The following claims arise under the Patent & Unfair Competition Laws of the 

United States, 35 USC 281 et seq and 15 USC 1125(a).   The Court has subject matter jurisiction 

over such patent infringement and unfair competition claims pursuant 28 USC 1331, 1338(a) and 

35 USC 281 et seq.  

VENUE 

5. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 USC 1400(b) and 1391(c).  

BACKGROUND FACTS 

6. RIT is the developer of certain unique fire/safety systems for fire fighters, 

including certain unique “turn out gear”, a “pre-rigged egress system” and an “full body harness” 

for a self contained breathing apparatus (SCBD).  

7. The unique fire/safety systems developed, manufactured and marketed by RIT 

are, by design, compatible within one another, in that each of these distinct RIT products can be 

purchased seperately, at different times, and integrated with one another into an integrated 

system at a later date; or, purchased at the same time, as a fully integrated system. 
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8. RIT has applied for, and been awarded a series of United States Patent on the 

patentable features of these unique fire/safety systems, (“RIT Patent Rights”), including 

specifically, 

(a) US 5,970,517 – “the ‘517 Patent”, issued October 26, 1999, entitled “ Safety 

Harness With Integral Support Line; 

(b) US 6,487,725 – “the ‘725 Patent”, issued December 3, 2002, entitled “ Safety 

Harness With Integral Support Line; and  

(c)  US 7,086,091 – “the ‘091 Patent”, issued August 8, 2006,  entitled “Full Body 

Harness”. 

9. FIRE INNOVATIONS owns and operates the interactive web site, 

www.fireinnovations.com, upon which it offers for sale, one or more fire safety systems and 

products, Home Page of www.fireinnovations.com annexed hereto Exhibit “A”.    

10. The FIRE INNOVATIONS interactive web site, www.fireinnovations.com, is 

accesable to residents within the Northern District of Ohio; and, solicits sales of FIRE 

INNOVATIONS products from the residents within the Northern District of Ohio. 

11. The FIRE INNOVATIONS interactive web site, www.fireinnovations.com, 

identifies FIRE FORCE, as its authorized sales representative and distributor, within the 

Northern District of Ohio; and, Finely Fire Equipment, Inc., as its authorized sales representative 

and distributor, within the Southern District of Ohio, FIRE INNOVATIONS Dealer Locator 

Page from www.fireinnovations.com, annexed hereto as Exhibit “B” 

12. Upon information and belief, FIRE FORCE has and maintains an inventory of 

FIRE INNOVATIONS products within the Northern District of Ohio; and, solicits and sells 

FIRE INNOVATIONS products directly to residents within the Northern District of Ohio, FIRE 

http://www.fireinnovations.com
http://www.fireinnovations.com
http://www.fireinnovations.com
http://www.fireinnovations.com
http://www.fireinnovations.com
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FORCE invoice for sale of a “Colorado Belt” and “Bailout System” to Mentor Fire Department 

(Attn: Dave Rancourt), annexed hereto as Exihibit “C”.   FIRE FORCE also solicits orders for 

FIRE INNOVATIONS products from residents within the Northern District of Ohio, for 

fullfillment by FIRE INNOVATIONS from California, FIRE INNOVATIONS, FIRE 

INNOVATIONS “Thank you” letter from Steve Bishop (President, FIRE INNOVATIONS), to 

Dave Rancourt (Mentor Fire Department), annexed hereto as Exhibit “D”. 

13. At all time material hereto, RIT has placed actual and potential infringers upon 

constructive notice

 

of the RIT Patent Rights by prominently displaying/marking the patent 

numbers of the RIT Patent Rights, along with the corresponsing patented products, on its 

electronic catalog of its products, on its own web site, Product Pages from 

www.ritrescuesystems.com/products.php, annexed hereto as Exhibit “E”. 

14. At all time material hereto, RIT has placed actual and potential infringers upon 

actual notice

 

of the RIT Patent Rights by sending copies of its patents to Defendant, FIRE 

INNOVATIONS, Correspondence for RIT to FIRE INNOVATIONS from July 2007 to 

December 2007, Composite Exhibit “F” 

15. One or more fire safety systems and products offered for sale, and/or sold by the 

Defendants, to residents within the Northern District Of Ohio, incorporate one of more of the 

patented inventions encompassed by one or more of the RIT Patent Rights.  

http://www.ritrescuesystems.com/products.php
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COUNT I  

(Patent Infringement – U.S.  5,979,517) 

16. RIT herein incorporates paragraphs 1-15, as if restated herein, and further alleges 

as follows: 

17. RIT states that to the best of its knowledge, information and belief, formed after 

reasonable inquiry under the circumstances, it will likely be able to prove, after reasonable 

opportunity for further investigation or discovery, that: 

(a) In violation of 35 USC 271(a), (b) and (c), the Defendants have infringed and are 

continuing to infringe the RIT’s ‘517 Patent, by making, using, selling or offering for sale the 

inventions protected by one or more of the claims of RIT’s ‘517 Patent. 

(b) Defendants infringement of the RIT ‘517 Patent, as set forth herein, has been and 

is deliberate and willful, making this an exceptional case within the meaning of 35 USC 285; and 

(c) Defendants infringement of the RIT ‘517 Patent, has caused and will continue to 

cause RIT monetary damage and irreparable harm, for which it has no adequate remedy at law. 

WHEREFORE RIT demands judgment against the Defendants as follows: 

 

Damages for Defendants’ willful infringement to compensate RIT for its lost 

profits and not less than a reasonable royalty, which is believed to approximate 

more than $150,000; 

 

A permanent injunction restraining the Defendants and all parties acting in 

concert with them from any further infringement of the RIT Patent Rights, 

specifically the ‘517 Patent; and 

 

RIT’s reasonable attorney fees and costs. 
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COUNT II 

(Patent Infringement – U.S.  6,487,725) 

18. RIT herein incorporates paragraphs 1-15, as if restated herein, and further alleges 

as follows: 

19. RIT states that to the best of its knowledge, information and belief, formed after 

reasonable inquiry under the circumstances, it will likely be able to prove after reasonable 

opportunity for further investigation or discovery, that: 

(a) In violation of 35 USC 271(a), (b) and (c), the Defendants have infringed and is 

continuing to infringe the RIT’s ‘725 Patent, by making, using, selling or offering for sale the 

inventions protected by one or more of the claims of RIT’s ‘725 Patent. 

(b) Defendants infringement of the RIT ‘725 Patent, as set forth herein, has been and 

is deliberate and willful, making this an exceptional case within the meaning of 35 USC 285; and 

(c) Defendants infringement of the RIT ‘725 Patent, has caused and will continue to 

cause RIT monetary damage and irreparable harm, for which it has no adequate remedy at law. 

WHEREFORE RIT demands judgment against the Defendants as follows: 

 

Damages for Defendants’ willful infringement to compensate RIT for its lost 

profits and not less than a reasonable royalty, which is believed to approximate 

more than $150,000; 

 

A permanent injunction restraining the Defendants and all parties acting in 

concert with them from any further infringement of the RIT Patent Rights, 

specifically the ‘725 Patent; and 

 

RIT’s reasonable attorney fees and costs.  
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COUNT III  

(Patent Infringement – U.S.  7,086,091) 

20. RIT herein incorporates paragraphs 1-15, as if restated herein, and further alleges 

as follows: 

21. RIT states that to the best of its knowledge, information and belief, formed after 

reasonable inquiry under the circumstances, it will likely be able to prove after reasonable 

opportunity for further investigation or discovery, that: 

(a) In violation of 35 USC 271(a), (b) and (c), the Defendants have infringed and is 

continuing to infringe the RIT’s ‘091 Patent, by making, using, selling or offering for sale the 

inventions protected by one or more of the claims of RIT’s ‘091 Patent. 

(b) Defendants infringement of the RIT ‘091 Patent, as set forth herein, has been and 

is deliberate and willful, making this an exceptional case within the meaning of 35 USC 285; and 

(c) Defendants infringement of the RIT ‘091 Patent, has caused and will continue to 

cause RIT monetary damage and irreparable harm, for which it has no adequate remedy at law. 

WHEREFORE RIT demands judgment against the Defendants as follows: 

 

Damages for Defendants’ willful infringement to compensate RIT for its lost 

profits and not less than a reasonable royalty, which is believed to approximate 

more than $150,000; 

 

A permanent injunction restraining the Defendants and all parties acting in 

concert with them from any further infringement of the RIT Patent Rights, 

specifically the ‘091 Patent; and 

 

RIT’s reasonable attorney fees and costs. 

22. [omitted] 



  

8

 
COUNT IV  

(Unfair Competition – 15 USC 1125(a)) 

23. RIT herein incorporates paragraphs 1-15, as if restated herein, and further alleges 

as follows: 

24. RIT and FIRE INNOVATIONS are competitors in the manufacture, marketing 

and sale of fire safety products and systems, including fire safety products and systems 

encompassed by one or more of the claims of the RIT Patent Rights. 

25. RIT and FIRE INNOVATIONS compete for sales of fire fire safety products and 

systems, throughout the United States, including the Northern District of Ohio. 

26. RIT products incorporate unique features and designs for which patent protection 

has been granted. 

27. All products manufactured and sold by RIT and its authorized distributors, are 

manufactured in accordance with industry standards, and independently certified as in 

compliance with such standards. 

28. Upon information and belief, the fire safety products and systems of FIRE 

INNOVATIONS that compete with the RIT fire safety products and systems, are not certified by 

an independent testing agency as compliant with industry standards for these competing 

products. 

29. Upon information and belief, the fire safety products and systems of FIRE 

INNOVATIONS that compete with the RIT fire safety products and systems, are more expensive 

than the comparable RIT product. 

30. On or about January 2008, RIT’s authorized sales representative and distributor, 

for the rocky mountain sales territory, MES (Municipal Emergency Services, Inc.) obtained a 
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signed

 
Purchase Order for approximately $90,000, for RIT fire safety products and systems from 

the West Metro Fire Protection District in Lakewood, Colorado, signed West Metro Purchase 

Order annexed hereto as Exhibit “G”

 
31. Shortly after the signed West Metro signed Purchase Order had been obtained, it 

was unexpectedly cancelled, without comment or explanation; and, the contract for the 

essentially same equipment thereafter awarded to FIRE INNOVATIONS. 

32. RIT states that to the best of its knowledge, information and belief, formed after 

reasonable inquiry under the circumstances, it will likely be able to prove after reasonable 

opportunity for further investigation or discovery, that the cancellation of the RIT signed 

Purchase Order, and the diversion of the sales from RIT to FIRE INNOVATIONS, was the 

direct and proximate result of  

 

the FIRE INNOVATIONS disparagement of RIT and/or the RIT products, 

 

the FIRE INNOVATIONS misrepresentation of its own products, and/or 

 

was the result of FIRE INNOVATIONS unfair business practices. 

33. The FIRE INNOVATIONS actions, as set forth in Paragraph (32), comprise 

unfair competition in violation of Federal Law, including specifically, 15 USC 1125(a). 

34. As a direct and proximate result of the actions of FIRE INNOVATIONS, as set 

forth in Paragraph (32), RIT has been injured of not less than $90,000, or according to proof. 

35. As a direct and proximate result of the actions of FIRE INNOVATIONS, as set 

forth in Paragraph (32), RIT has sustained irreparable harm, for which damages are inadequate. 

WHEREFORE, RIT demands judgment against Defendants as follows: 

(A) Monetary damages from the Defendants, jointly and severally, for the 

wrongful diversion of sales from the RIT existing customers, and potential customers to 
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FIRE INNOVATIONS, including without limitation, the aggregate, of an amount 

equivalent to RIT losses, the FIRE INNOVATIONS profits and reasonable attorney fees 

& costs;  

(B) A permanent injunction against the Defendants, its agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys and all persons acting on behalf of the Defendants, or in 

concert with them, from any further disparagement of RIT and the RIT products.  

Respectfully,    

/s/ John H. Faro

 

John H. Faro, Esq. 
Ohio Bar No.  
Attorney For Plaintiff  

Faro & Associates 
28 West Flagler Street, Suite 1000 
Miami, Florida 33130-1808 
phone 305, 761-6921 
fax 786, 235-1562 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

  
I HEREBY CERTIFY that this document, filed through the ECF system, will be sent 

electronically to the registered participants, as identified in the Notice of Electronic Filing 

(NEF), and that paper copies will be sent to the individuals indicated as non-registered 

participants, as per the attached Distribution List, on August 11, 2008. 

Respectfully,    

/s/ John H. Faro 
Attorney For Plaintiff  
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